

**BY-LAWS**  
**OF**  
**THE ASSOCIATION FOR HOMEOWNERS OF THE**  
**HIGHLANDS OF RAWLEY SPRINGS**  
**SUBDIVISION, INC.**

ARTICLE I

Definitions

1.1 Association. "Association" shall mean and refer to The Association for Homeowners of The Highlands of Rawley Springs Subdivision, Inc., its successors and assigns.

1.2 Properties. "Properties" shall mean and refer to that certain real property as shown on subdivision plats for Lots 1 - 51, such plats recorded in the Clerk's Office of the Circuit Court of Rockingham County, Virginia, in Deed Book 2055, Page 613, Deed Book 2055, Page 613, and Deed Book 2078, Page 488, and such additions thereto as may hereafter be brought within the jurisdiction of the Association.

1.3 Park Area. "Park Area", shall mean all real property containing 36 acres, more or less, shown on the Plan of Development for Highlands of Rawley Springs Subdivision, thereon designated as Park Area, including the bridge, as shown upon the survey and plat or plats therefore and recorded in the Clerk's Office of the Circuit Court of Rockingham County, Virginia, to be conveyed to the Association for the common use and enjoyment of the Members of the Association. Such conveyance to be subject to any dedications and transfers to public agencies, authorities, or utilities, which may be necessary for the development of the subject property in its entirety.

1.4 Roads. "Roads" shall mean the common roadways used for access to the Lots and as shown on the recorded plat of subdivision.

1.5 Lot. "Lot" shall mean and refer to any plot of land shown upon said Plan of Development for The Highlands of Rawley Springs as a Lot and subsequently to be recorded in the Clerk's Office of Rockingham County, Virginia as individual Lots, with the exception of the Park Area.

1.6 Member. "Member" shall mean and refer to every person or entity who becomes an Owner of one or more of the Lots.

1.7 Owner. "Owner" shall mean and refer to the record Owner, whether one or more persons or entities, of a fee simple title to any Lot which is a part of the Properties, including

contract sellers, but excluding those having such interest merely as security for the performance of an obligation.

1.8 Declarant. "Declarant" shall mean and refer to Rawley Springs, LC, a Virginia Limited Liability Company, its successors and assigns, if such successors or assigns should acquire a majority of the remaining undeveloped Lots from the Declarant for the purpose of development.

1.9 Declaration. "Declaration", "Restrictions" or "Covenants" shall, unless the context otherwise indicates, mean and refer to any or all of those restrictions and covenants contained in the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions of The Highlands of Rawley Springs, recorded in the aforesaid Clerk's Office in Deed Book 2073, page 305.

## ARTICLE II

### Membership

2.1 Every person or entity who is a record Owner of a fee or undivided fee interest in any Lot which is subject by covenants of record to assessment by the Association, including contract sellers, shall be a Member of the Association. The foregoing is not intended to include persons or entities who hold an interest merely as security for the performance of an obligation. Membership shall be appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership of any Lot which is subject to assessment by the Association. Ownership of such Lot shall be the sole qualification for membership.

## ARTICLE III

### Meetings of Members

3.1 Places of Meetings. All meetings of the members, shall be held at such place, either within or without the Commonwealth of Virginia, as from time to time may be fixed by the Board of Directors.

3.2 Annual Meetings. The annual meeting of the members, for the election of Directors and transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting, shall be held in each year on the first Tuesday in December, at 7:00 p.m., if that day is not a legal holiday. If that day is a legal holiday, the annual meeting shall be held on the next succeeding day not a legal holiday.

3.3 Special Meetings. A special meeting of the members for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time by the President, by a majority of the Board of Directors, or by members together holding at least one-tenth of the voting interests of the Association at the time

outstanding and entitled to vote with respect to the business to be transacted at such meeting. At a special meeting no business shall be transacted and no corporate action shall be taken other than that stated in the notice of the meeting.

3.4 Notice of Meetings. Written or printed notice stating the place, day and hour of every meeting of the members and, in case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be mailed (including by e-mail or facsimile) not less than ten nor more than sixty days before the date of the meeting to each Member of record or entitled to vote at such meeting, at his address which appears in the records of the Association. Such further notice shall be given as may be required by law, but meetings may be held without notice if all the members entitled to vote at the meeting are present in person or by proxy or if notice is waived in writing by those not present, either before or after the meeting.

3.5 Quorum. Any number of members together holding at least a majority of the Voting Rights, who shall be present in person or represented by proxy at any meeting duly called, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. If less than a quorum shall be in attendance at the time for which a meeting shall have been called, the meeting may be adjourned from time to time by a majority of the members present or represented by proxy without notice other than by announcement at the meeting.

3.6 Conduct of the Meeting. The President of the Association shall act as Chairman at each meeting of the members. In his absence, the Vice President, or should he be also absent, then a member chosen by a majority vote of the members present and entitled to vote, shall act as Chairman of the meeting. The Secretary of the Association, or an Assistant Secretary, or in their absence, any member designated by the Chairman, shall act as secretary of the meeting.

The Chairman shall determine the order of the business at each meeting of the members of the Association, but such order may be changed by a majority in voting power of the members present, either in person or by proxy, and entitled to vote at such meeting.

## ARTICLE IV

### Voting

4.1 Voting Right. The Association shall have two classes of voting membership:

Class A. Class A Members shall be all those Owners as defined in Article III with the exception of the Declarant. Class A Members shall be entitled to one vote for each Lot in which they hold the interest required for membership by Article II. When more than one person holds such interest in any Lot, all such persons shall be Members. The vote for such Lot shall be exercised as they determine among themselves, but in no event shall more than one vote be cast with respect to any Lot.

Class B. The Class B Member shall be the Declarant. The Class B Members shall be entitled to three (3) votes for each unsold Lot of the initial Lots and three (3) votes for the future sections until such time as a plan of development for it has been recorded and then three (3) votes for each Lot shown on such plat of development, provided that the Class B membership shall cease and be converted to Class A membership on the happening of any of the following events, whichever occurs earlier:

- (a) when the total votes outstanding in the Class A membership equal the total votes outstanding in the Class B membership,
- (b) on January 1, 2007, or
- (c) the surrender of the Class B membership by Declarant.

## ARTICLE V

### Directors

5.1 General Powers. The property, affairs and business of the Association shall be managed by the Board of Directors, and, except as otherwise expressly provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these By-Laws, all of the powers of the Association shall be vested in such Board.

5.2 Number of Directors. The number of Directors constituting the Board of Directors shall be five (5).

#### 5.3 Election and Removal of Directors; Quorum.

(a) Directors shall be elected at each annual meeting of Members to succeed those Directors whose terms have expired and to fill any vacancies then existing.

(b) Directors shall hold their offices for terms of one year and until their successors are elected. Any Director may be removed from office at a meeting called expressly for that purpose by the voting of Members holding not less than a majority of the shares entitled to vote at an election of Directors.

(c) Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors may be filled by the affirmative vote of the majority of the remaining Directors though less than a quorum of the Board, and the term of office of any Director so elected shall expire on the date fixed for the expiration of the term of office of the Director to which such Director was so elected.

(d) A majority of the number of Directors elected and serving at the time of any meeting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of Directors

present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors. Less than a quorum may adjourn any meeting.

5.4 Meetings of Directors. An annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held as soon as practicable after the adjournment of the annual meeting of Members at such place as the Board may designate. Other meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at places within or without the Commonwealth of Virginia and at times fixed by resolution of the Board, or upon call of the President or any two of the Directors. The Secretary or officer performing the Secretary's duties shall give not less than ten (10) days notice by letter, telephone, e-mail, or facsimile (or in person) to the Board Member at his last known address (post office, e-mail, or facsimile) of all meetings of the Board of Directors, provided that notice need not be given of annual meetings or of regular meetings held at times and places fixed by resolution of the Board. The Board of Directors may participate in a meeting by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment whereby all person participating in the meeting can hear each other. A written record shall be made of the action taken at any such meeting. Directors may act without a meeting if a consent in writing setting forth the action so taken shall be signed by all the Directors either before or after such action. At any meeting at which every member of the Board of Directors shall be present, although held without notice, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted if the meeting had been duly called. Meetings may be held at any time without notice if all of the Directors are present, or if those not present waive notice in writing either before or after the meeting.

## ARTICLE VI

### Officers

6.1 Election of Officers; Terms. The officers of the Association shall consist of a President, Treasurer, and a Secretary. Other officers, including a Chairman of the Board, one or more Vice-Presidents (whose seniority and titles, including Executive Vice-Presidents and Senior Vice-Presidents, may be specified by the Board of Directors), and assistant and subordinate officers, may from time to time be elected by the Board of Directors. All officers shall hold office until the next annual meeting of the Board of Directors and until their successors are elected. The President shall be chosen from among the Directors. Any two offices may be combined in the same person as the Board of Directors may determine.

6.2 Removal of Officers; Vacancies. Any officer of the Association may be removed summarily with or without cause, at any time, by the Board of Directors. Vacancies may be filled by the Board of Directors.

6.3 Duties. The officers of the Association shall have such duties as generally pertain to their offices, respectively, as well as such powers and duties as are prescribed by law or are

hereinafter provided or as from time to time shall be conferred by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may require any officers to give such bond for the faithful performance of his duties as the Board may see fit.

## ARTICLE VII

### Property

7.1 General. The Association shall have the ability to acquire and hold property, both real and personal, for the aesthetic, recreational and general civic benefit of the community.

7.2 Common Area. The Association shall have the ability to accept the transfer of the legal title to the Park Area from the Declarant.

7.3 Recreational and other facilities. The Association shall have the ability to purchase, construct, maintain and operate recreational or other facilities for the use and enjoyment of residents of the subdivision.

7.4 Easements. The Association shall have the right to grant easements for public utility purposes to any municipality or public utility for the purpose of installation or maintenance of utilities to serve the Park Area or to serve any lot located in the subdivision including the extension of said utility to adjacent properties, provided, however, that such public utility easements shall not be inconsistent with the use of the Park Area.

7.5 Maintenance. The Association shall maintain all the Park Area including the streets and roads not accepted into the State system.

7.6 Policing. The Association shall be charged with general public policing and control of the subdivision and the Park Area and the Board of Directors of the Association shall have the power to make any reasonable regulations for the control of such and the prevention of nuisances within the subdivision and the Park Area.

## ARTICLE VIII

### Architectural Control

8.1 Use. The Lots shall be used for no purpose except for residential purposes. No building shall be erected, altered, placed or permitted to remain on any of the Lots, other than one detached dwelling not to exceed two stories in height and a private garage for not more than three cars, and such other outbuildings as may be approved by the Architectural Control Committee hereinafter provided.

8.2 Approval. No building or other improvement shall be erected, placed, or altered on any Lot until construction plans and specifications have been submitted in writing and approved by the Architectural Control Committee as to external design and materials, harmony of external design with existing structures, and as to location on the Lot. No fence or wall shall be erected, placed or altered on any Lot unless similarly approved, but in no event shall a fence or wall exceed six (6) feet in height or be constructed of chain link. The placement of the driveway and parking areas on each individual lot shall be approved by the Architectural Control Committee. Every effort will be made in determining the location of the driveway and parking areas so as not to disturb the aesthetics along the common roadways of the development.

8.3 Appointment. The Architectural Control Committee hereinabove referred to is composed of three Members appointed by the Declarant until the earlier of the following:

(a) the date on which forty (40) Lots have been transferred to other Owners by the Declarant, or

(b) assignment by the Declarant of its right to appoint the committee to the Association as evidenced by a recorded instrument.

The Members appointed by the Declarant shall hold office until removed by the Declarant or their successors, or elected as later provided.

Upon the happening of an event listed in (a) or (b) above, the Declarant or Association shall give notice of the election of members of the Architectural Control Committee to the Members. If Declarant or the Association for any reason fails to do so, then any Owner may give the notice. The notice shall be in writing and mailed first class at least thirty (30) days in advance of the proposed election to each Owner at the address listed with the Treasurer of Rockingham County, Virginia. A ballot shall be attached to the notice which shall contain the names of at least three persons suggested by the Declarant or other mailing party with the right reserved to each Owner to nominate and vote for additional or other persons if desired.

The three persons receiving the highest number of votes shall be elected. The ballots shall be counted and certified by the person calling the election

The person receiving the highest number of votes shall serve a term of three (3) years; the person receiving the next highest number of votes shall serve a term of two (2) years, and the person receiving the third highest number of votes shall serve a term of one (1) year. Thereafter, all persons elected shall serve a term of three (3) years. No person shall be elected to more than two successive terms. Vacancies, whether caused by resignation, removal, or expiration of term, shall be filled by the remaining Members of the Architectural Control Committee. If all three offices are vacant, any Owner may request an election to be held as earlier provided. All matters decided by the Architectural Control Committee shall be determined by majority vote.

8.4 Discretionary Authority. The Architectural Control Committee's approval or disapproval as required herein shall be in writing. In the event that the Committee, or its designated representative, fails to approve or disapprove within thirty (30) days after plans and specifications have been submitted to it, or in any event, if no suit to enjoin construction has been commenced prior to the completion thereof, approval will not be required and the covenants shall be deemed to have been duly complied with.

The aforesaid Architectural Control Committee shall have full, absolute and complete discretion to approve or disapprove proposed buildings and improvements on any Lot, and in the exercise of its discretion said Committee shall not be bound to approve any proposed buildings and improvements solely because such comply with the other restrictions and covenants or are equal in cost or value to buildings and improvements on other Lots. Said Committee shall also have the further discretion to approve any proposed buildings or improvements on any Lot even though said improvements do not meet the requirements of the other provisions herein, if, in the absolute discretion of said Committee, such variations are not harmful to the value of the adjoining property. In no event, however, shall said Committee be empowered to permit any use of any Lot other than as provided in Section 1 above.

The Architectural Control Committee may base its approval or rejection of plans or specifications upon any ground, including purely aesthetic considerations, which in the sole discretion of the Committee shall seem sufficient.

The exterior of any dwelling or building constructed on any Lot shall be completed within one year after commencement of construction.

Neither the Declarant nor the Architectural Control Committee shall be liable to any Owner or other persons on account of any claim, liability damage, or expense suffered or incurred or threatened against an Owner or other person arising out of or in any way related to the subject matter of any reviews, acceptances, inspections, permissions, consents or required approvals which must be obtained from the Declarant or the Architectural Control Committee, whether given, granted or withheld.

## ARTICLE IX

### Covenant for Maintenance Assessments

9.1 Creation of the Lien and Personal Obligation of Assessments. The Declarant and each Owner of any Lot by acceptance of a deed therefor, whether or not it shall be so expressed in any such deed or other conveyance, is deemed to covenant and agree to pay to the Association: (1) annual assessments or charges, and (2) special assessments for capital improvements, such assessments to be fixed, established, and collected from time to time as hereinafter provided. The annual and special assessments, together with such interest thereon



and costs of collection thereof, as hereinafter provided shall be a charge on the land and shall be a continuing lien upon the property against which each such assessment is made. Each such assessment, together with such interest, costs and reasonable attorney's fees shall also be the personal obligation of the person who was the Owner of such property at the time when the assessment fell due. The personal obligation shall not pass to his successors in title unless expressly assumed by them.

9.2 Purpose of Assessments. The assessments levied by the Association shall be used exclusively for the purpose of promoting the recreation, health, safety and welfare of the residents in The Highlands of Rawley Springs, and in particular for the improvement and maintenance of the property, bridge, roads, services and facilities devoted to this purpose and related to the use and enjoyment of the Park Area.

9.3 Basis of Annual Assessments. The annual assessment shall be One Hundred Dollars (\$100) per Lot, unless changed by the Board of Directors of the Association upon consideration of current maintenance costs and future needs of the Association.

9.4 Special Assessments for Capital Improvements. In addition to the annual assessments authorized above, the Association may levy at any time a special assessment applicable to that year only, for the purpose of defraying, in whole or in part, the cost of any construction or reconstruction, unexpected repair or replacement of a described capital improvement upon the Park Area or the Roads, including the necessary fixtures and personal property related thereto, provided that any such assessment shall have the assent of sixty percent (60%) of the votes of each class of Members who are voting in person or by proxy at a meeting duly called for this purpose, written notice of which shall be sent to all Members not less than thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days in advance of the meeting setting forth the purpose of the meeting.

9.5 Uniform Rate of Assessment. Both annual and special assessments must be fixed at a uniform rate for all Lots and may be collected on a monthly basis.

9.6 Quorum for any Action Authorized Under Section 9.4. At the first meeting called, as provided in Section 9.4 hereof, the quorum requirements for Class A Members shall be fifty-one percent (51%) of the votes of such class. If the required quorum is not forthcoming at any meeting, another meeting may be called, subject to the notice requirements set forth in Section 9.4, and the required quorum at any such subsequent meeting shall be one-half (1 /2) of the required quorum at the preceding meeting. No such subsequent meeting shall be held more than sixty (60) days following the preceding meeting.

9.7 Date of Commencement of Annual Assessments Due Dates. The annual assessments provided for herein shall commence as to a Lot on the first day of the month following the conveyance of the Lot. The first annual assessment shall be adjusted according to the number of months remaining in the calendar year. The due date shall be established by the

Board of Directors. The Association shall upon demand at any time furnish a certificate in writing signed by an officer of the Association setting forth whether the assessment on a Lot has been paid. A reasonable charge may be made by the Board for the issuance of these certificates. Such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of payment of any assessment therein stated to have been paid.

9.8 Effect of Nonpayment of Assessments: Remedies of the Association. Any assessments which are not paid when due shall be delinquent. If the assessment is not paid within thirty (30) days after the due date, the assessment shall bear interest from the date of delinquency at the current legal rate, and the Association may bring an action at law against the Owner personally obligated to pay the same, or foreclose the lien against the property, and interest, costs, and reasonable attorney's fees of any such action shall be added to the amount of such assessment. No Owner may waive or otherwise escape liability for the assessments provided for herein by non-use of the Park Area or abandonment of his Lot.

9.9 Subordination of the Lien to Deeds of Trust. The lien of the assessments provided for herein shall be subordinate to the lien of any first deeds of trust. Sale or transfer of any Lot shall not affect the assessment lien. However, the sale or transfer of any Lot which is subject to any deed of trust, pursuant to a deed of foreclosure thereof, shall extinguish the lien of such assessments as to payments thereof which became due prior to such sale or transfer. No sale or transfer shall relieve such Lot from liability from any assessments thereafter becoming due or from the lien thereof.

9.10 Exempt Property. The following property shall be exempt from the assessments created herein: (a) all properties dedicated to and accepted by a local public authority; (b) the Park Area; and (c) Lots owned by Declarant after twelve (12) Lots have been transferred to other Owners, with Declarant's maximum liability being One Thousand Two Hundred Dollars (\$1,200) per year and this amount being reduced by One Hundred Dollars (\$100) for each Lot transferred. However, no land or improvements devoted to dwelling use shall be exempt from said assessments.

## ARTICLE X

### Miscellaneous Provisions

10.1 Seal. The seal of the Association shall consist of a flat-faced circular die, of which there may be any number of counterparts, on which there shall be engraved the word "Seal" and the name of the Association.

10.2 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Association shall end on such date and shall consist of such accounting periods as may be fixed by the Board of Directors.

10.3 Checks, Notes and Drafts. Checks, notes, drafts and other order for the payment of money shall be signed by such persons as the Board of Directors from time to time may authorize, however, the signature of any such person may be a facsimile.

## ARTICLE XI

### Indemnity of Officers and Directors

#### 11.1 Definitions. In this Article:

"Applicant" means the person seeking indemnification pursuant to this Article.

"Expenses" includes legal fees.

"Liability" means the obligation to pay a judgment, settlement, penalty, fine, including any excise tax assessed with respect to an employee benefit plan, or reasonable expenses incurred with respect to a proceeding.

"Official capacity" means (i) when used with respect to a director, the office of director in the Association; or (ii) when used with respect to an individual other than a director, the office in the Association held by the officer or the employment or agency relationship undertaken by the employee or agent on behalf of the Association. "Official capacity" does not include service for any other foreign or domestic corporation or any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise.

"Party" includes an individual who was, is, or is threatened to be made a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding.

"Proceeding" means any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative and whether formal or informal.

11.2 General. The Association shall indemnify any person who was or is a party to any proceeding, including a proceeding by or in the right of the Association to procure a judgment in its favor, by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, trustee, partner, or officer of another Association, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, against any liability incurred by him in connection with such proceeding if (i) he believed, in the case of conduct in his official capacity, that his conduct was in the best interests of the Association, and in all other cases that his conduct was at least not opposed to its best interests, and, in the case of any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful, and (ii) he was not guilty of gross negligence or willful misconduct. A person is considered to be serving an employee benefit plan at the Association's request if his duties to the Association also imposes duties on, or otherwise involves services by, him to the plan or to participants in or beneficiaries of the plan. A person's conduct with respect to an employee benefit plan for a purpose he believed to be in the interests of the participants and beneficiaries of the plan is conduct that satisfies the requirement of this section.

11.3 Impact of Legal Proceeding. The determination of any proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere is not, of itself, determinative that the applicant did not meet the standard of conduct described in this Article.

11.4 Limit on Indemnification. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 11.2 of this Article: provided there is a finding of gross negligence or willful misconduct, no indemnification shall be made in connection with any proceeding charging the applicant with improper benefit to himself, whether or not involving action in his official capacity, in which he was adjudged liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received by him.

11.5 Indemnification of Expenses. To the extent that the applicant has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any proceeding referred to in Section 11.2 of this Article, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, he shall be indemnified against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.

11.6 Procedure. Any indemnification under Section 11.2 of this Article (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the Association only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the applicant is proper in the circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 11.2 and Section 11.4.

The determination shall be made:

(a) By the Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors not at the time parties to the proceeding;

(b) If a quorum cannot be obtained under subsection (a) of this section, by majority vote of a committee duly designated by the Board of Directors (in which designation Directors who are parties may participate), consisting solely of two or more Directors not at the time parties to the proceeding;

(c) By special legal counsel;

(i) Selected by the Board of Directors or its committee in the manner prescribed in subsections (a) or (b) of this section; or

(ii) If a quorum of the Board of Directors cannot be obtained under subsection (a) of this section and a committee cannot be designated under subsection (b) of this section, selected by majority vote of the full Board of Directors, in which selection Directors who are parties may participate; or

(d) By the Members, but shares owned by or voted under the control of Directors who are at the time parties to the proceeding may not be voted on the determination.

Authorization of indemnification and evaluation as to reasonableness of expenses shall be made in the same manner as the determination that indemnification is permissible, except that if the determination is made by special legal counsel, authorization of indemnification and evaluation as to reasonableness of expenses shall be made by those entitled under subsection (c) of this section to select counsel.

11.7 Advance Payment/Reimbursement.

(a) The Association may pay for or reimburse the reasonable expenses incurred by any applicant who is a party to a proceeding in advance of final disposition of the proceeding if:

(i) The applicant furnishes the Association a written statement of his good faith belief that he has met the standard of conduct described in Section 11.2 and Section 11.4;

(ii) The applicant furnishes the Association a written undertaking, executed personally or on his behalf, to repay the advance if it is ultimately determined that he did not meet the standard of conduct; and

(iii) A determination is made that the facts then known to those making the determination would not preclude indemnification under this Article.

(b) The undertaking required by paragraph (ii) of subsection (a) of this section shall be an unlimited general obligation of the applicant but need not be secured and may be accepted without reference to financial ability to make repayment.

(c) Determinations and authorizations of payments under this section shall be made in the manner specified in Section 11.6.

11.8 Expanded Indemnity. The Board of Directors is hereby empowered, by majority vote of a quorum of disinterested Directors, to cause the Association to indemnify or contract in advance to indemnify any person not specified in Section 11.2 of this Article who was or is a party to any proceeding, by reason of the fact that he is or was an employee or agent of the Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as an employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, to the same extent as if such person were specified as one to whom indemnification is granted in Section 11.2. The provisions of Section 11.3 through Section 11.7 of this Article shall be applicable to any indemnification provided hereafter pursuant to this Section 11.8.

11.9 Insurance Option. The Association may purchase and maintain insurance to indemnify it against the whole or any portion of the liability assumed by it in accordance with this Article and may also procure insurance, in such amounts as the Board of Directors may determine, on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer,

employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against or incurred by him in any such capacity or arising from his status as such, whether or not the Association would have power to indemnify him against such liability under the provisions of this Article.

11.10 Definitions. Every reference herein to directors, officers, employees, or agents shall include former directors, officers, employees, and agents and their respective heirs, executors, and administrators. The indemnification hereby provided and provided hereafter pursuant to the power hereby conferred on the Board of Directors shall not be exclusive of any other rights to which any person may be entitled, including any right under policies of insurance that may be purchased and maintained by the Association or others, with respect to claims, issues, or matters in relation to which the Association would not have the power to indemnify such person under the provisions of this Article.

## ARTICLE XII

### Restrictive and Covenants

12.1 General. The Association, or any Owner, shall have the right to enforce by a proceeding at law or in equity, the restrictions, conditions and covenants imposed by the Declaration. Failure by the Association or by an Owner to enforce any covenant or restriction therein contained shall in no event be deemed a waiver of the right to do so thereafter.

## ARTICLE XIII

### Amendments

13.1 By the Directors. The Board of Directors by a majority vote thereof shall have the power to make, alter, amend or repeal the By-laws of the Association at any regular or special meeting of the Board. This power shall not be exercised by the Executive Committee or any other committee of directors.

13.2 By the Members. At any annual or special meeting, By-laws may be adopted, and all By-laws shall be subject to amendment, alteration, or repeal by a majority of all members entitled to vote. Pursuant to resolution adopted by a majority of the members entitled to vote, the Members may provide that certain By-laws adopted, approved, or designated by them may not be amended, altered, or repealed, except by a certain specified vote of the Members.